### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 2 8 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ANTHONY A. STUART, **PETITIONER** 

VS.

CASE NO.: 96,208 DCA CASE NO.: 98-02900

STATE OF FLORIDA RESPONDENT

> ON DISCRTIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS, SECOND DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Anthony A. Stuart Petitioner Washington Corr. Inst. 4455 Sam MItchell Drive Chipley, Florida, 32428 DC# TO6549 Pro Se

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I hereby certify that the foregoing named persons have an interest in the outcome of this appeal:

All interested persons are listed in the caption of this brief.

Petitioner, Pro Se

### INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from a judgement of conviction and sentence before the Honorable Daniel L. Perry, Judge of Circuit Court, Criminal Division, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit. The Appellant, ANTHONY A. STUART, was the Defendant in the trial court, and the Appellee, State of Florida, as the prosecution. The Defendant will be referred to in this brief as Stuart, Appellant or Petitioner. The Assistant State Attorney will be referred to as the prosecutor.

The symbol "R", followed by the appropriate volume and page number, will be used to refer to the record on appeal.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 18, 1998, Stuart entered open pleas of guilty to five separate pending cases. (R. II 172-73). The trial court engaged in complete and proper plea colloquies. (R. II, 195-204). Before Stuart pled guilty, the trial court pointed out that he was facing a substantial prison sentence. The guidelines scoresheet provided a prison range from 267 months to 445 months. (R. II, 197). Stuart, through trial counsel, requested that the Department of Corrections conduct a pre-sentence investigation before sentencing. The trial court granted that request and set the cases for a sentencing date of June 23, 1998.

On June 23, 1998, the trial court considered several items including the prepared Department of Correction's report and statements from the deceased victim's family. The court also heard argument from counsel for Stuart as well as argument from the prosecutor. The trial court subsequently sentenced Stuart as follows:

Case 97-17927, Robbery, (home invasion less than \$300), 812.135(1): 20 years prison followed by 15 years probation. (R. I, 104-110, 169).

Case 97-20100, two counts of Vehicular Homicide, 782.071: 10 years probation on each count; each count to run concurrent with the other, but consecutive to prison time in 97-17927 and 97-2501. (R. I, 166-169). The information charging Stuart did not allege any enhancement, to wit: that he left the scene of the accident after it occurred. (R. I, 147).

Case 97-10310, three counts of Obtaining Property for Worthless Check, felony amount, 832.05(4): 5 years prison. (R. I, 68-73).

Case 97-18205, Burglary of a Conveyance, 810.02(4)(b): 5 years prison; Dealing in Stolen

Property, 812.019(1): 15 years prison, (R.I, 126-131).

Case 97-2501, Possession of Coscaine, 983.13, and three misdemeanors: 5 years prison. (R. I, 33-41).

All sentences were to run conncurrently unless otherwise indicated. Each of the judgements and sentences above were signed by the trial court. Stuart filed a pro se notice of appeal on July 6, 1998, (R.I 176).

The Second District Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction, citing Leonard v. State, 731 So.2d 2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). The Leonard, decision was granted review in this Court and jurisdiction in Stuart, was subsequentially granted.

This appeal follows.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

The trial court imposed an illegal sentence in lower case number 97-17927, Robbery (home invasion), because the period of incarceration imposed combined with the period of probation imposed, exceeds the statutory maximum provided for a first degree felony. That is, the lower court imposed 20 years prison followed by 15 years probation on a first degree felony which only allows for a maximum aggregate penalty of 30 years.

The trial court imposed an illegal sentence in lower case number 97-20100 Vehicular Homicide, because the period of probation imposed exceeds the statutory maximum for athird degree felony. That is, the trial court imposed probation on a third degree felony which only allows for a maximum penalty of 5 years. The State of Florida agreed the sentence was illegal in their brief before the District Court.

The District Court of Appeal had jurisdiction ro reverse the illegal sentence imposed.

## **ARGUMENT**

### ISSUE I

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPOSED AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE

The trial court is permitted under the sentencing guidelines to impose a combination of incarceration and probation so long as the combined terms of incarceration and probation do not exceed the statutory maximum. King v. State, 681 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 1996); Fuentes v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1213 (Fla. 2d DCA May 13, 1998); State v. Lindsey, 560 So.2d 406 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). A sentence is "illegal" if it exceeds the statutory maximum for the particular offense at issue. King v. State, 681 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 1996). A guidelines sentence, which includes the incarcerative portion of the sentence and the probationary or community control period may not exceed the statutory maximum for that offense. Stephens v. State, 677 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); Garcia v. State, 666 So.2d 231 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). The Florida Supreme Court has recently allowed a prison sentence which was within the recommended scoresheet range, but which exceeded the statutory maximum. Mays v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S387 (Fla. S. Ct., July, 1998).

Stuart entered a plea of guilty to Robbery, (home invasion less than \$300), 812.135(1). This offense is classified as a first degree felony punishable by imprisonment for up to 30 years. Fla. Stat. 775.082(3)(b). The court imposed a sentence of 20 years prison followed by 15 years probation. (R. I, 104-110, 169). Since the combined periods of 20 and 15 exceed the statutory maximum of 30, the trial court imposed an illegal sentence.

Stuart also entered a plea of guilty to two counts of Vehicular Homicide, 782.071. The State of Florida did not allege any enhancement under 782.071. (R. I, 147). These offenses, therefore, are classified as third degree felonies punishable by imprisonment for up to 5 years. Fla. Stat.

775.082(3)(d). The trial court imposed a sentene of 10 years probation on each count; each count to run concurrent with the other, but consecutive to prison time in 97-17927 and 97-2501. (R.I, 166-169). Since the ten year probationary period exceeds the 5 year allowable sentence, the trial court imposed an illegal sentence.

Florida Statute, Section 924.06 (1998) (amended) provides: "(1) A defendant may appeal from: . . . (d) A sentence, on the ground that it is illegal,"

The trial court, at sentencing, stated:

"The Court: He has thirty days to appeal the judgement and sentence of the Court." (R. I, 257)(T-52).

Since Florida Statute 924.051(4) did not override, section 924.06, regarding an appeal of a true illegal sentence, the District Court had jurisdiction and the Petitioner was entitled to relief, King v. State, 681 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 1996), and Davis v. State, 661 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 1995)("illegal sentence is one that can be addressed at any time." and should be "raised on direct appeal"). Id at 1197.

### CONCLUSION

The trial court imposed an illegal sentence in lower case 97-17927, Robbery (home invasion), because the period of incarceration imposed combined with the period of probation imposed, exceeds the statutory maximum for a first degree felony. That is, the court imposed 20 years prison followed by 15 years probation on a first degree felony which only allows for maximum aggregate penalty of 30 years.

The trial court imposed an illegal sentence in lower case 97-20100, Vehicular Homicide, because the period of probation imposed, exceeds the statutory maximum for a third degree felony. That is, the court imposed 10 years probation on a third degree felony which only allows for a maximum penalty of 5 years.

For the above stated reasons, this matter should be remanded to the trial court for sentencing in accordance with statutory maximums for each indicated offense.

REPSECTFULLY SUBMITTED

Anthony A Stuar

Anthony A. Stuart, Petitioner, Pro se Washington Corr. Inst. 4455 Sam Mitchell Drive Chipley, Florida 32428

DC# T06549