017

N THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX JAN 1 8 2000 CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY_____

ANTHONY A. STUART,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 96,208

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

RONALD NAPOLITANO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 175130 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts with the following addition:

The trial court entered written reasons for a downward departure sentence, to wit: "The opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal, a copy of which is appended to Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction, outlines the relevant facts at this stage of the proceedings.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeals did not err in dismissing the petitioner's direct appeal. Although the trial court imposed an illegal sentence because the downward departure sentences imposed - imprisonment followed by probation exceeded the statutory maximum for the offenses in question - petitioner failed to properly preserve the sentencing error for review on direct appeal because it was never brought to the attention of the trial court either at the time of sentencing or by filing a motion to correct sentencing error pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.800(b) (1998) as required by Fla. R. App. Pro. 3.140(d) (1998). The petitioner can still raise this issue in a motion to correct illegal sentence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.800(a) (1998).

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN DISMISSING PETITIONER'S DIRECT AP-PEAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSITION OF AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE SEN-TENCING ISSUE WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR REVIEW ON DIRECT APPEAL (RESTATED).

The issue before this Court is not, as alleged by petitioner, whether the trial court erred in sentencing him to combined sentences of incarceration and probation which exceeded the statutory maximum provided by law for those offenses when the trial court imposed a downward departure sentence. Respondent acknowledged on direct appeal that the appellant's argument that his sentence was illegal was meritorious (see respondent's answer brief as filed with the Second District Court of Appeals - copy attached as an appendix to this brief). This issue before this Court is whether the Second District Court of Appeals erred in dismissing the direct appeal of the petitioner without reaching the merits of his argument because the appellant court relying upon its previous ruling in Leonard v. State, 731 So.2d 2 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), review granted No. 93,332.

In <u>Leonard</u>, *id.*, appellant appealed a 30 year sentence he received when his probation was revoked on a second degree felony. The Second District Court of Appeals held that:

Because Leonard pleaded guilty to the underlying offense and failed to bring this error to the trial court's attention first, pursuant to section 924.051(4), Florida Statutes (1996), we are without jurisdiction to entertain this issue on direct appeal. Therefore, we dismiss this appeal without prejudice to Leonard to seek correction of this possible error by filing a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a).

S. 924.051(4) provides:

If a defendant pleads nolo contendere without expressly reserving the right to appeal a legally dispositive issue, or if a defendant pleads guilty without expressly reserving the right to appeal a legally dispositive issue, the defendant may not appeal the judgment or sentence.

In Amendments to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So.2d

1103, at 1105 (Fla. 1996), this Court stated:

[w]e believe the legislature could reasonably condition the right to appeal upon the preservation of a prejudicial error or the assertion of a fundamental error...[t]his Court on June 27, 1996, promulgated an emergency amendment designated as a new Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) to authorize the filing of a motion to correct a defendant's sentence within ten days. amendments to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.020(q) & Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, 675 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 1996). Because many sentencing errors are immediately apparent at sentencing, we felt this rule would provide an avenue to preserve sentencing errors and thereby appeal them. However, since our adoption of the emergency amendment, a number of parties have expressed the view that the ten-day period id too short....For these reasons we have extended the time for filing motions to correct sentencing errors under rule 3.800(b) to thirty days.

...[S]ection 924.051(b)4 also states that a defendant pleading guilty or nol contendere without expressly reserving the right to appeal a legally dispositive issue cannot appeal the sentence. However, a defendant has not yet been sentenced at the time of the plea. Obviously, one cannot expressly reserve a sentencing error which has not yet occurred. By any standard, this is not a reasonable condition of the right to appeal. Therefore, we construe this provision of the Act to permit the permit a defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere without reserving a legally dispositive issue to nevertheless appeal a sentencing error, providing that it has been preserved by a motion to correct sentence. (citations omitted).

Accordingly, we have rewritten rule 9.140 to accomplish the objectives set forth above.

(Emphasis added)

The changes to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.140 as regarding the preservation of sentencing issues for purposes of appeal, as set forth by this Court in <u>Amendments to Florida Rules</u> of <u>Appellate Procedure</u>, 696 So.2d at 1129-1131 are as follows:

RULE 9.140. APPEAL PROCEEDINGS IN CRIMINAL CASES

Appeals by Defendant.

(1) Appeals Permitted. A defendant may ap-

peal

(b)

*

(D) an <u>unlawful or</u> illegal sentence;

(e) a sentence, <u>if appeal</u> is required or permitted by general law;

* *

(2) PLEAS. A defendant may not appeal from a guilty plea or nolo contendere plea except as follows:

(A) A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere may expressly reserve the right to appeal a prior dispositive order of the lower tribunal identifying with particularity the point of law being preserved.

(B) A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere may otherwise directly appeal only

* *

(iv) a sentencing error, if preserved;

★

*

(d) **Sentencing Errors**. A sentencing error may not be raised on direct appeal unless the alleged has first been brought to the attention of the lower tribunal:

*

(1) at the time of sentencing: or

(2) by motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b)

It is the position of the respondent that the reasoning of this Court as cited above and the changes made to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure and Florida Rules of Appellate procedure as set forth above, establish the procedural principle that sentencing errors of any kind - whether fundamental error or not cannot be raised for the first time on direct appeal. Such errors must be raised initially in the trial court either at the time of sentencing or by a motion to correct sentencing error pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.800(b) as required by Fla. R. App. Pro. 91.140(d). If not preserved then most minor sentencing issues will be waived; however, the defendant will still have the right to seek redress at the trial level for "illegal sentences" and or incorrect calculations in sentencing score sheets by filing a motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim Pro. 3.800(a).

This Court has recognized the division among the district court's of appeal regarding the preservation of sentencing issues for purposes of direct appeal. In <u>Amendments To Florida Rules of</u> <u>Criminal Procedure 3.111(e), 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate</u> <u>Procedure 9.010(h), 8.140, and 9.600, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S530, at</u> 531 (Fla. November 12, 1999) has stated:

> Rule 3.800(b) currently allows criminal defendants to file a motion correct sentencing errors in the trial court within thirty days after the sentencing proceeding. Operating in tandem with rule 3.800(b), Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h) delays the "rendition" of the final order until the trial court disposes of the 3.800(b) motion. Thus the Defendant currently has thirty days to file the notice of appeal after the trial court rules on any sentencing error preserved through a 3.800(b) motion.

> These statutory and rule changes embody a policy decision intended to "relieve the workload of appellate courts" and "place correction of alleged errors in the hands of the judicial officer [the trial judge] best able to investigate and correct any error." Maddox v. State, 708 So.2d 617, 621 Fla. Th DCA 1998) (en banc), review granted, 718 So.2d 169 (Fla. 169 (Fla. 1998). Unfortunately, these statutory and rule changes did not have their intended effect of conserving the judicial resources of the appellate courts, while at the same time providing for sentencing errors to be addressed at their earliest opportunity

in the trial courts.

The Act has opened an entirely new debate in the appellate courts as to what constitutes fundamental sentencing error on appeal and whether any unpreserved sentencing error, no matter how egregious, can be considered on direct appeal. The Fifth District has broadly stated that no unpreserved sentencing error will be considered fundamental or correctable on direct appeal. See Maddox, 708 So.2d at 620. In contrast the First, Second, Third, and Fourth District continue to recognize that errors in sentencing can constitute "fundamental error" that can be raised on direct appeal despite the lack of preservation, See Nelson v. State, 719 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (en banc); Bain v. State, 730 So.2d 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) (en banc); Harriel v. State, 710 So.2d 102 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); Jordan v. State, 728 So.2d 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), review granted, 735 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 1999). This Court has accepted jurisdiction over the Fifth District's decision in Maddox, and dozens of other related cases, in which this Court has been asked to resolve the split in the district courts by determining whether unpreserved sentencing errors can be raised on direct appeal.

This Court further found that despite the Fifth District's rhetorically asked question of "why should there be 'fundamental' error where the courts have created a 'failsafe' procedural device to correct any sentencing error or omission at the trial level?" <u>Maddox</u>, *supra* at 520, the CARA Committee [Criminal Appeal Reform sct Committee] has discovered that in reality rule 3.800(b) as currently written has fallen far short of the goal of providing a "failsafe" method for defendants to seek to have sentencing errors corrected in the trial court and thereby preserve them for appellate review. <u>Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure</u>

3.111(e), 3.800, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S531.

This Court in <u>Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Proce-</u> <u>dure 3.111(e), 3.800</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S531-532, S533-534, amended rule 3.800(b) to allow additional time to file a motion to correct sentencing errors . As this Court stated:

> The most important change in the new rule is that it significantly expands the period in which a motion to correct sentencing error can be filed in the trial court. As with the current rule, rule 3.800(b)(1) will allow a motion to correct a sentencing error to be filed in the trial court during the period allowed for the filing of a notice for appeal. However, under the new rule 3.800(b)(2), if a notice of appeal has been filed, a motion to correct sentencing error can also be filed in the trial court at any time up until the first the first appellate brief is filed. The deadline for filing the first appellate brief is then extended until ten days after the clerk of the circuit court transmits the supplemental record from the proceeding held on the motion to correct sentencing error, which includes the motion, the order, any amended sentence, and the transcript if designated.

This Court felt that these amendments "will provide an effective, and hopefully more 'failsafe," procedural mechanism through which defendants may present their sentencing errors to the trial court and thereby preserve them for appellate review." *Id.* at S531.

This Court went on and described the interplay between rule 3.800(a) and 3.800(b):

We secondly address the concern of some public defenders and the Florida Appellate and Criminal Rules Committee that the amendments would not allow a rule 3.800(a) , motion to be filed during the pendency of the appeal. However, the amended rule is intended to provide one mechanism whereby all sentencing errors may be preserved for appellate The comments to the proposed rule review. defines a "sentencing error" as including "harmful errors in orders resulting entered as a result of the sentencing process. This includes errors in orders of probation, orders of community control, cost and restitution orders, as well as errors within the sentence itself." The amendment to rule 3.800(a) will make it clear that a rule 3.800(b) motion can be used to correct any type of sentencing error, whether we had formally called that error erroneous, unlawful, Thus a party can correct and or illegal. illegal sentence through a 3.800(b) motion, or alternatively, following the appeal, a party may file a 3.800(a) motion to correct the sentence in the trial court.

Allowing a 3.800(a) motion to be filed during the pendency of the appeal could frustrate the entire scheme of the amendments to rule 3.800(b) proposed by the CARA Committee. This is especially so in light of the continuing difficulty of defining precisely what type of sentencing error constitute illegal sentences. In those small number of cases involving illegal sentences discovered after the briefs have been filed, which necessitate immediate resolution because the defendant would have served the legal portion of the sentence before prior to the conclusion of the appeal, we would urge the State and the defendant to work cooperatively to correct those errors.⁵

⁵ If the justice of the individual case requires it due to circumstances such as a short sentence, a joint motion by the parties requesting relinquishment of jurisdiction to the trial court for the limited purposes of correcting an illegal sentence may be appropriate. This Court concluded, "the primary purpose of these amendments is to insure that sentencing errors will be corrected at the earliest possible opportunity by the trial court." Id. at S532.

Respondent has cited extensively from this Court's reasoning in <u>Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.11(e) and</u> <u>3.800.</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S530, because respondent submits that the reasoning clearly reflects the Court's reasoning to date, that sentencing errors, even if regarded as "fundamental error" should first be brought to the attention of the trial court before it can reviewed on appeal.

The respondent urges the Court to adopt the reasoning in <u>Mad-dox</u>, supra, that claims of fundamental sentencing error are no longer cognizable on appeal because the provisions of rules 3.800, 3.850, and 9.140(d) provide comprehensive, fail-safe remedies in the trial court which obviate any need to address such claims for the first time on appeal.

The wisdom of <u>Maddox</u> is that it eliminates the need to struggle with the uncertain meaning of fundamental error by holding that there are now remedies for **all** prejudicial sentencing errors, not merely fundamental, through contemporaneous objection, or motion pursuant to rule 3.800(b) to correct sentence; 3.800(a) to correct an illegal sentence or error in the calculation of the sentencing score sheet at any time -although not while an appeal is pending; or a motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 to claim ineffective assistance of counsel if trial

counsel overlooks any prejudicial error and fails to file a rule 3.800(b). Failure of counsel to challenge a prejudicial error, when provided with a full thirty-day period of review, would be ineffective assistance of counsel on its face and there would be, of course, a right to appeal the denial of any rule 3.850 motion.

The state urges in the most emphatic terms that no one can seriously suggest that defendants who are now provided with no less than four independent and mutually supportive due process remedies in the trial court to raise claims of sentencing error are also entitled, contrary to statutory and procedural law, to demand that the judicial system also permit the claim to be raised for the first time on direct appeal. A right to a contemporaneous objection, a right to a motion to correct sentence under 3.800(b), a right to a motion to correct an illegal sentence under 3.800(a), and a right to claim ineffective assistance of counsel within two years of final judgment is due process to the ultimate degree. There is no denial of fundamental due process in requiring that defendants use trial court remedies readily available to them in raising claims of sentencing error. Maddox.

CONCLUSION

Rspondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the Second District Court of Appeals in <u>Stuart v.</u> <u>State</u>, *supra*.